FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/12/2025 9:50 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Case #: 1041659

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

JACOB SLOAN-HERB,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey Erwin Ellis Attorney for Mr. Sloan-Herb

Law Office of Alsept & Ellis 1500 SW First Ave. Ste 1000 Portland OR 97201 JeffreyErwinEllis@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jacob Sloan-Herb, Respondent/Petitioner, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals reversed the decision granting Mr. Sloan-Herb's motion to vacate for resentencing in an opinion dated March 25, 2025. Reconsideration was denied on April 28, 2025.

Copies are attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1.a. When a judge grants a motion to vacate a pre-*Houston-Sconiers*¹ sentence imposed on a juvenile prosecuted in adult court and finds that a lesser sentence could have been imposed if the judge had

¹ State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wash. 2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017).

considered the mitigating qualities of youth, specifically the child's capacity for rehabilitation which was demonstrated at the time of the motion, does a reviewing court err when it concludes that the motion should have been denied as untimely?

1.b. When a judge concludes that there is a reasonable likelihood of a lesser sentence from the consideration and weighing of the potential for and actual rehabilitation since the crime does that showing satisfy the retroactive substantive holding of *Houston-Sconiers*?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2017, Sloan-Herb pleaded guilty to first degree child molestation. Sloan-Herb was 17 years old at the time of the crime. At sentencing, the parties jointly recommended a sentence of 98 months, the low end of the standard sentencing range. Rather than accepting the joint recommendation, the court stated that it would sentence Sloan-Herb to 130 months, the high end of the standard range. *Opinion* at 1.

Years later, Sloan-Herb brought a motion to vacate. Defense counsel first argued that Sloan-Herb "was harmed because the mitigating factors were not addressed." RP 11. Then, counsel summarized the voluminous evidence of Sloan-Herb's rehabilitation since the time of the crime. *Id.* See also CP 152; 162-168.

When the trial judge granted Sloan-Herb's motion to vacate, she prefaced that ruling with the understanding that "merely establishing the trial court did not follow *Houston-Sconiers* to the T is not itself sufficient to show prejudice." RP at 21.

Then, she made two findings:

[I]t would not have been possible at the time of Sloan-Herb's sentencing for the sentencing court to fully consider the mitigating qualities of youth had such an argument been made.

[Sloan-Herb] has shown that the mitigating qualities of youth could have impacted Sloan-Herb's sentence.

CP at 181. Accordingly, the trial court entered an order granting the CrR 7.8 motion, vacating Sloan-Herb's judgment, and sentence, and ordering a new sentencing hearing.

V. REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

Introduction

This Court should accept review because, as this case demonstrates, a course correction is needed. again. Children's "differences" have become irrelevant for purposes of resentencing, even where the trial judge a reasonable likelihood of a different outcome based on the presentation of those differences, including rehabilitation. The Trial Judge Found that Presentation and Consideration of the Mitigating Qualities of Youth Could Have Resulted in a Lesser Sentence

Whether a child sentenced in adult court prior to *Houston-Sconiers* is entitled to be resentenced is not as simple as: "not anymore." However, there is a growing body of decisions that can be read to reach that conclusion. See e.g., State v. Fisher, 31 Wash. App. 2d 1036 (2024) (Fearing, J. dissenting) ("The recent Washington decisions complete the annihilation of the *Miller* promise by erecting a time bar, imposing a sophistic distinction between procedural and substantive challenges, and narrowly viewing prejudice."). State v. Boone, No. 59116-2-II, 2025 WL 1304579, at *2 fn. 6 (May 6, 2025) (upholding prior grant of relief, but adding "we recognize that if Boone filed his personal restraint petitions today, it is unlikely that we would grant his petitions and order

 $\mathbf{5}$

resentencing."). More precisely, this Court should grant review because the lower court decision conflicts with this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(2). And, if it does not, then this case poses a significant constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Here, the lower court opinion reversed a trial judge's decision vacating a judgment after finding that Sloan-Herb had presented evidence of the mitigating qualities of youth, primarily the potential for an actual rehabilitation, by concluding that Sloan-Herb had only shown a violation of the procedural rule of *Houston-Sconiers*, making additional analysis unnecessary. In fact, the opinion states that Sloan-Herb "failed to even argue in his CrR 7.8 motion that his sentence constituted disproportionate punishment." *Opinion* at 2. To the contrary, the *second sentence* of Sloan-Herb's CrR 7.8 motion states:

6

Mr. Sloan-Herb contends that his current sentence of 130 months, imposed for a Child Molestation committed when he was 17 years old, is *substantively disproportionate* because it was imposed without the consideration of the "mitigating qualities of youth."

CP 60 (emphasis supplied).

The *Opinion* then concludes that Sloan-Herb failed to show any mitigating qualities of youth to justify the trial court's decision to grant relief by imposing the following burden: "Sloan-Herb had to show that he possessed such diminished culpability at the time of his offense that the trial court's failure to consider his youth or exercise its discretion of imposing a lower sentence resulted in a standard range sentence that constituted disproportionate punishment."

Opinion at 3.

Sloan-Herb's Mitigating Potential for and Actual Rehabilitation

The mitigating qualities of youth are not so narrowly confined to "diminished culpability" as demonstrated in the crime of conviction. There is an additional, indispensable way in which children are different.

When sentencing a juvenile in adult court, the constitution requires sentencing courts to meaningfully consider "mitigating factors that account for the diminished culpability of youth," which specifically includes "the youth's chances of becoming rehabilitated." *State v. Delbosque*, 195 Wash. 2d 106, 120, 456 P.3d 806, 814 (2020).

Not only did Sloan-Herb argue that the original sentencing judge failed to consider the full panoply of the mitigating qualities of youth, he presented evidence of not only his capacity for change, but his successful rehabilitative efforts. The lower court does not explain why it applied a test that reads out this factor, critical to assessing disproportionality.

In contrast, trial counsel summarized:

So -- and in Jacob's own situation one can see how he has, over the last eight years at Green Hill, attained that development that he had not attained at, you know, the age of 16 when he -when this, you know, crime occurred. You know, at that time he was on track to be a complete failure. He was...doing miserable in school. He was not on track to graduate. But over the last eight years, he has been involved in every single possible program he could be after obtaining his GED, and he's completed program after program. He went to bat for himself when they weren't going to let him, you know, start sexual deviancy treatment. He went to bat for himself and got into treatment and has been doing well. You know, he's just -- he's really matured into, you know, a very good, you know, kind, good human and who's received recommendation after recommendation at Green Hill because of how well he's been doing. And, you know, that's something that has come with age, and so we can see that clearly.

RP 11-12.

For reasons not explained, the lower court's opinion overlooks or reads out a juvenile's capacity for change as relevant to an assessment of culpability and the substantive disproportionality of the prior sentence.

Finally, because the lower court's *Opinion* fails to consider the evidence of Sloan-Herb's rehabilitative potential and accomplishments, it fails to give the proper deference to the trial judge's ruling. A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995).

"A petitioner must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that he was actually and substantially prejudiced by the constitutional error in order to obtain relief on collateral review." *In re Pers*.

10

Restraint of Domingo-Cornelio, 196 Wn.2d 255, 267, 474 P.3d 524 (2020). Prejudice may be established if the petitioner can show by a preponderance of the evidence that the sentence they received would have been shorter if the sentencing judge had complied with *Houston-Sconiers*. One factor used to determine the existence of prejudice is whether there is evidence that the sentencing judge was willing to consider mitigating factors that justify a lower sentence.

The lower court concluded that Sloan-Herb met this requirement, but then correctly noted that such a procedural *Houston-Sconiers* violation does not establish prejudice. Rather, a procedural *Houston-Sconiers* error must be accompanied by other evidence showing the sentencing judge would have imposed a lesser sentence. The lower court erred because it either ended its analysis too soon or misread this Court's decisions to make rehabilitation irrelevant. Either way, the decision is contrary to the state and federal constitutions and the caselaw applying the prohibition against curule punishment.

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals, affirm the order vacating, and remand for a new sentencing.

WORD COUNT

This Petition for Review has 8269 words.