# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/2/2025 2:01 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 104165-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JACOB ALEXANDER SLOAN-HERB, Petitioner

FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II CAUSE NO. 59226-6-II CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 16-1-02555-2

# RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street, PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000

# **

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Court will grant a petition for review "only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Sloan-Herb argues that review should be granted in this case because the "lower court decision conflicts with this Court's precedent" "[a]nd, if it does not, then this case poses a

significant constitutional question." Pet. Rev. 6 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(2)-(3)). This Court should deny Sloan-Herb's petition for review because the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals in this case properly applied established case law in reaching its holding and is not in conflict with decisions of this Court or of published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

Furthermore, the issues raised, in the context of this case, do not amount to significant questions of law under the Constitution.

I. The decision of the Court of Appeals concluding that Sloan-Herb's collateral attack should have been denied as untimely faithfully followed this Court's explicit precedent holding that Houston-Sconiers's procedural rule does not apply retroactively on collateral review.

The superior court's order granting Sloan-Herb's CrR 7.8 motion stated that:

The defense has shown that pursuant to *In re Ali*, . . the procedural rule of *Houston-Sconiers*, . . . which requires courts to meaningfully consider the mitigating qualities of youth at the time of sentencing, is a retroactive change in the law. This rule is material to Sloan-Herb's motion and case

because the sentencing judge did not consider the mitigating qualities of youth at his sentencing. Thus, Sloan-Herb's motion is timely under the time bar exception of [former] RCW 10.73.100(6).

CP 180-81. The superior court entered this order on February 2, 2024. CP 180-81. By that time, this Court had already decided Hinton, supra, Carrasco, supra, and Williams, supra. In Hinton this Court stated that "Houston-Sconiers's substantive rule applies retroactively on collateral review, but its procedural rule does not." 1 Wn.3d at 329 (capitalization omitted). In Carrasco this Court "confirmed that *Houston-Sconiers*'[s] procedural 'dual mandates' are not retroactive and therefore do not apply on collateral review to a sentence that is long final." 1 Wn.3d at 233. And in *Williams* this Court explained that "the procedural mandates that require courts to consider mitigating qualities of youth and to have discretion to impose sentences below the SRA are not independently retroactive on collateral review." 200 Wn.2d at 632. And since only retroactive changes in the law exempt collateral attacks from the statutory time bar, a

claim of error based on *Houston-Sconiers*'s procedural rule is time barred if the error is raised over one year since the judgment became final. *Id.* at 631-32, 634.

Here, as previously acknowledged, the sentencing court in 2017 did not engage in a discussion of Sloan-Herb's youth that would comply with *Houston-Sconiers*'s procedural rule.

See CP 118-137. But that failure is not retroactive, so Sloan-Herb's claim of error based on said failure is untimely. *Hinton*, 1 Wn.3d at 329-331; CP 60-65; CP 144-156; RP 6-12, 17-19.

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case, cited *Hinton* and *Williams* to hold the same, and concluded that "the trial court abused its discretion when it determined that Sloan-Herb's motion was not time barred." 2025 WL 903794 at \*3-4. The Court of Appeals's straightforward application of this Court's explicit command cannot amount to a "decision [that] conflicts with this Court's precedent." Pet. Rev. at 6.

And notably, Sloan-Herb does not actually attempt to argue that *this* holding is incorrect. Instead, he takes issue with

the Court of Appeals properly noting that "Sloan-Herb did not argue that his sentence constituted disproportionate punishment." 2025 WL 903794 at \*2, \*4 (emphasis added). Sloan-Herb attempts to refute this statement, by pointing to a sentence in his motion in which he stated that his sentence is "substantively disproportionate because it was imposed without the consideration of the 'mitigating qualities of youth." Pet. Rev. at 6-7. For one, a sentence is not an argument. For another, a violation of *Houston-Sconiers*'s procedural rule does not equate to violation of the substantive rule or constitute per se prejudice on collateral review. Forcha-Williams, 200 Wn.2d at 598-99. And third, the superior court did not find that Sloan-Herb's sentence was "substantively disproportionate." CP 180-81. So whether Sloan-Herb did or did not make this argument in his motion is immaterial; the argument did not form the basis for why the superior court found his motion timely, and in the Court of Appeals the determination of whether the argument was made was "unnecessary to decide the case." In re

Domingo, 155 Wn.2d 356, 366, 119 P.3d 816 (2005) (internal quotation omitted).

Nevertheless, Sloan-Herb attempts to use this portion of the decision to springboard into an argument that somehow the decision of Court of Appeals "overlooks or reads out a juvenile's capacity for change as relevant to an assessment of culpability and the substantive disproportionality of the prior sentence." Pet. Rev. at 10. This is non-responsive. Similarly, Sloan-Herb claims that "because the lower court's *Opinion* fails to consider evidence of Sloan-Herb's rehabilitative potential and accomplishment, it fails to give the proper deference to the trial judge's ruling." Pet. Rev. at 10. But whether Houston-Sconiers's procedural rule is retroactive on collateral review has nothing do with whether or not Sloan-Herb presented evidence of "rehabilitative potential." And the decision of the Court of Appeals did not address prejudice since it concluded that Sloan-Herb's motion was time barred. 2025 WL 903794 at 1 n.1, \*4. Consequently, Sloan-Herb's claim that somehow the decision

of the Court of Appeals made "rehabilitation [evidence] irrelevant" to a prejudice determination is unfounded. Pet. Rev. at 10-12. This Court should deny Sloan-Herb's petition for review because he has failed to satisfy the discretionary review criteria in RAP 13.4(b) and because the decision of the Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's decisions to Sloan-Herb's case.

II. Were this Court to accept review, it should affirm the Court of Appeals on the alternative basis that the superior court abused its discretion when it found that Sloan-Herb established prejudice.

This Court has reiterated in recent cases addressing collateral attacks on sentences involving youthful offenders that granting relief pursuant to a collateral attack "is an extraordinary remedy for which petitioners must overcome a high standard before [courts] will disturb an otherwise settled judgment." *In re Davis*, 200 Wn.2d 75, 80, 514 P.3d 653 (2022) (internal quotation omitted). Said another way, collateral attacks "are allowed only in 'extraordinary' circumstances" due

to the "importance of finality of judgments and sentences." *Kennedy*, 200 at 12 (citation omitted).

A defendant who meets their burden of establishing actual and substantial prejudice shows that "the outcome would more likely than not have been different had the alleged error not occurred." Id.; Forcha-Williams, 200 Wn.2d at 599-600 (noting that "[t]his court has long held a petitioner alleging constitutional error on collateral review must show by a preponderance of the evidence that he was actually and substantially prejudiced by the alleged error"). On the other hand, showing that the alleged error "created a *possibility* of prejudice" is insufficient. Meippen, 193 Wn.2d at 315-16 (emphasis in original); Davis 200 Wn.2d at 660 (citing *In re* Hagler, 97 Wn.2d 818, 825, 650 P.2d 1103 (1982) for the proposition that "even showing that an error created a possibility of prejudice is insufficient to merit collateral relief").

Accordingly, a defendant alleging a purported *Houston-Sconiers* error must show "by a preponderance of the evidence

this his sentence would have been shorter if the trial court had absolute discretion to depart from the SRA at the time of the sentencing" and considered the mitigating qualities of the defendant's youth. Id. at 312-13 (emphasis added); Forcha-Williams, 200 Wn.2d at 598-997. To meet this burden, a petitioner "must" identify "some other evidence in the record to show the judge would have imposed a lesser sentence." Forcha-Williams, 200 Wn.2d at 603; see also Meippen, 193 Wn.2d at 315-17 (the failure to "present any evidence that the trial court would have imposed a lesser sentence" should be fatal to a claim of prejudice). Synthesizing the recent juvenile sentencing cases<sup>8</sup>, Forcha-Williams identified relevant "factors to consider in determining whether a *Houston-Sconiers* error is prejudicial: [(1)] whether the judge was presented with and

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A defendant cannot establish prejudice "solely by" establishing that a "procedural *Houston-Sconiers* violation" occurred at sentencing. (capitalization omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *In re Domingo-Cornelio*, 196 Wn.2d 255, 474 P.3d 524 (2020) and *In re Ali*, 196 Wn.2d 220, 474 P.3d 507 (2020).

considered the mitigating qualities of the offender's youth; [(2)] whether the judge understood their discretion, where the imposed sentence falls within the standard range; and [(3)] whether the judge articulated that they would have imposed a lower sentence if they could." 200 Wn.2d at 604. For example, a petitioner can "show[] actual and substantial prejudice where the sentencing judge fails to consider any mitigating qualities of youth and imposes the lowest standard range [sentence]" possible. *Id.* (citation omitted).

That said, because youth, or age, does not itself amount to a per se mitigating factor, a petitioner must also show that their crimes reflected the characteristics of youth, e.g., lack of impulse control, youthful immaturity, and a failure to appreciate risks and consequences. *State v. Anderson*, 200 Wn.2d 266, 269-270, 516 P.3d 1213 (2022); *Light-Roth*, 191 at 330, 336-37 (a defendant "must show that his youthfulness relates to the commission of the crime" in order for youth to constitute a mitigating factor warranting an exceptional

sentence) (citation omitted). Again, this burden is on the petitioner. *State v. Gregg*, 196 Wn.2d 473, 478-483, 474 P.3d 539 (2020); *State v. Rogers*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 466, 472, 476, 487 P.3d 177 (2021) (citations omitted). And it's a burden "a juvenile offender" can satisfy by "by presenting relevant mitigation evidence bearing on the circumstances of the offense and the culpability of the offender, including both expert and lay testimony as appropriate." *Anderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 285 (citation and internal quotation omitted).

Here, Sloan-Herb did not meet his burden to establish prejudice. And the superior court erred when it held otherwise and erred when it applied the wrong legal standard for determining prejudice. For one, other than the conclusory statement that "Mr. Sloan-Herb can also demonstrate prejudice" and a recitation of a portion of *Ali*—a case with sentencing facts that do not resemble his own—Sloan-Herb's CrR 7.8 motion did not show or argue how he had satisfied his burden. *See* CP 60-65. Sloan-Herb also failed to address his prior, serious sex

crime convictions or the sentencing court's reasoning for imposing a high-end sentence—two issues highly relevant when considering whether he could establish by a preponderance that his sentence *would* have been shorter. *See* CP 150-156.

Second, Sloan-Herb did not address the "mitigating qualities of youth" to show how "his youthfulness relate[d] to the commission of [his] crime[s]," nor did he attempt to "show that his crime[s] reflected the characteristics of youth," e.g., a lack of impulse control, youthful immaturity, and a failure to appreciate risks and consequences<sup>9</sup>. Light-Roth, 191 Wn.2d at 330 (emphasis added); Anderson, 200 Wn.2d at 269-270. On the contrary, Sloan-Herb claimed that "if granted a new sentencing" he will "present evidence that this crime was the

<sup>9</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Sloan-Herb had already twice, on separate occasions, been convicted for sex crimes against young children and sentenced before he committed the instant child molestation. CP 16, 19-20. It cannot be said that Sloan-Herb remained unaware of the risks and consequences of his actions.

product of judgment impaired, at least in part, due to this still immature brain." CP 64. This is backwards; Sloan-Herb had the burden to make this showing before he could be granted a resentencing hearing. Meippen, 193 Wn.2d at 315-16. Otherwise, all Sloan-Herb provided was a bare-bones claim that "[i]n several respects, Jacob's actions directly reflect the deficits that exist in an immature brain." CP 153. Sloan-Herb failed to back up that claim with evidence or argument and did not discuss or detail any of his "actions" or crimes such that one would have the first idea what he did, let alone how what he did was the result of his "immature brain." CP 153-56. So while evidence of his rehabilitation could be material in assessing whether his crimes reflected the characteristics of youth, Sloan-Herb did not make that connection.

Third, the *Forcha-Williams* factors do not support a finding of prejudice. 200 Wn.2d at 604. While the sentencing court was not presented with evidence supporting the mitigating qualities of youth in general or of Sloan-Herb's youth in

particular, it understood that it had the discretion to impose a sentence lower than the one it imposed; yet it imposed a sentence at the high-end of the sentencing range and did not "articulate[] that they would have imposed a lower sentence if they could." *Id*; *Meippen*, 193 Wn.2d at 316-17 (noting that the defendant could not establish prejudice in part because the sentencing court "clearly intended to impose a sentence at the top of the standard range"). Sloan-Herb asked for a sentence of 98 months, but the sentencing court imposed a 130-month sentence. And in doing so the sentencing court concluded that the sentence it imposed was "exactly what I think is [] correct for this case." CP 137. The court explained to Sloan-Herb:

I'm going to give you the maximum under the, uh, sentencing guidelines. I believe it's appropriate for many, many reasons. One is you had a lot of opportunity, um, to stop the active, ongoing (inaudible) that we've seen in this case. You are clearly at risk and a danger to our children.

#### CP 135. The court further commented that

we can't just let this keep going on and on and on and the only way I can see to fix it, is for you to get some serious, serious in prison treatment to find out what's going on and why this is happening. Um, because it's clear, if I let you walk out the door today, there'd be another couple victims tomorrow. . . . [I]n my estimation, right now as you sit here today, you are a serial child molester and if I let you out this door today, it would happen again. And I don't want to see that happen for you or for any, um, victims in our community.

CP 136.

Given all of the above, Sloan-Herb cannot show that he was prejudiced because he cannot show that "by a preponderance of the evidence that his sentence would have been shorter" had the trial court complied with *Houston-Sconiers*. *Meippen*, 193 Wn.2d at 316-18. As *Meippen* concluded, "a mere possibility that the trial court could have departed from the SRA in light of *Houston-Sconiers*, . . . do[es] not establish a prima facie showing of actual and substantial prejudice." *Id.* at 316. And this is especially the case where "[t]he trial court already had the discretion to impose a lesser sentence but declined to do so." *Id.* Instead, rather than imposing the lowest possible sentence, the sentencing court

here imposed a sentence at the high-end of the standard sentencing range like in *Meippen*. Sloan-Herb did not and cannot meet his burden to establish prejudice.

Necessarily then, the court erred in finding that Sloan-Herb established prejudice. CP 181. Most notably, the court abused its discretion when it applied the wrong legal standard and found that Sloan-Herb had met his burden on the basis that "the mitigating qualities of youth *could have* impacted [his] sentence." CP 181 (emphasis). Straightforwardly, "could have impacted" a sentence does not equate to the higher burden of showing by "preponderance of the evidence that [a] sentence would have been shorter." CP 181; Meippen, 193 Wn.2d at 316-18 (emphasis added). Rather the court seemed to have employed something akin to the "mere possibility" standard that this Court has explicitly rejected. *Id.* at 317.

And for the reasons articulated above, the court abused its discretion in finding prejudice regardless of the standard employed. The sentencing court imposed the highest possible

sentence it could when it rejected the parties' agreement for a low-end sentence and remarked that the sentence imposed was "exactly what I think is [] correct." CP 137. In light of the record, the lack of evidence tying Sloan-Herb's crime to the attributes of youth, and the reasons the sentencing courtimposed Sloan-Herb's high-end sentence, the superior court abused its discretion when it found that, nonetheless, Sloan-Herb had met his burden to establish prejudice

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should deny Sloan-Herb's petition for review.

\*\*\*

This document contains 4,418 words based on the word count calculation of the word processing software used to prepare this motion, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17(b). Additionally, I certify that all text appears in 14 point serif font equivalent to Times New Roman. RAP 18.17(a)(2).